
 
 

     
 
 
 
 

 
Advanced Meeting Package 

 
Regular Meeting 

 
Thursday 

January 15, 2026 
9:00 a.m. 

 
Location: 

Grand Haven Room 
Grand Haven Village Center 

2001 Waterside Pkwy, 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Note:  The Advanced Meeting Package is a working document and thus all materials are 
considered DRAFTS prior to presentation and Board acceptance, approval, or adoption. 

 



Grand Haven 
Community Development District 
 

  
250 International Parkway, Suite 208 
Lake Mary, FL 32746 
321-263-0132  

 
 

 
Board of Supervisors  
Grand Haven Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Grand Haven Community Development 
District is scheduled for Thursday, January 15, 2026, at 9:00 a.m. at the Grand Haven Room, at the 
Grand Haven Village Center, located at 2001 Waterside Parkway, Palm Coast, Florida 32137. 
 
An advanced copy of the agenda for the meeting is attached along with associated documentation for 
your review and consideration.  Any additional support material will be distributed at the meeting. 
 
Should you have any questions regarding the agenda, please contact me at (321) 263-0132 X-193 or 
dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com . We look forward to seeing you at the meeting. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

David McInnes 
David McInnes 
District Manager 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com


Page 1 of 3 
 

 
Community Development District 

Meeting Date: Thursday, January 15, 2026 Ways to Follow 
Meeting: 

Zoom – Listen 
Only 

Time: 9:00 AM Call-in Number: +1 (929) 205-6099 
Location: Grand Haven Room, at the 

Grand Haven Village 
Center, located at 2001 
Waterside Parkway, Palm 
Coast, Florida 32137 

Meeting ID: 
Zoom Link: 
 

705 571 4830# 
Zoom Link 

 

Revised Agenda 

I. Call to Order/ Roll Call  
II. Pledge of Allegiance  
III. Presentations  

A. Assessment of Emergency Exit Wild Oaks at Grand Haven – 
Supervisor Steve Brazen & Dr. Steve Davidson, Former 
Supervisor & Chairman (2003-2020) 

 

1. Rob Chase – Wildfire Mitigation Specialist/Public 
Information Officer for District 7, Florida Forest Service 

 

2. The Honorable David Sullivan, Palm Coast City Council  
IV. Audience Comments – The Audience Comment portion of the agenda 

is where individuals who are present may make remarks on matters 
that concern the District. Please note: 
 
• Participation shall be in accordance with Section 286.0114, 
Florida Statutes; 
 
• Each speaker is limited to three (3) minutes for remarks; 
 
• It is proper meeting etiquette to silence all electronic devices, 
including cell phones, during a Board meeting or workshop; 
 
• Speakers are expected to refrain from personal attacks on the 
Board of Supervisors or Staff; 
 
• The Board of Supervisors or Staff are not obligated to provide an 
immediate response as some issues require research, discussion and 
deliberation; 

 

https://vestapropertyservices.zoom.us/j/7055714830?pwd=dUFTN091cjVHZzluYUN0blEwUUYydz09


Page 2 of 3 
 

• Other matters of concern may be discussed during a meeting or 
workshop as determined by the Grand Haven Community 
Development District Board of Supervisor; 
 
• If the comment concerns a maintenance related item, it should be 
first addressed with the Operations Manager or Operations 
Supervisor outside of the context of the meeting. 

V. Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) Exhibit 1 
Pgs. 7-8 

VI. Public Hearing – Surface Water Management & Amenity Rule 
Amendments 

 

A. Open the Public Hearing  

B. Presentation of Proposed Amendments to Rule regarding Surface 
Water Management Systems and Amendment to Rule regarding 
Amenity Facilities 

Exhibit 2 
Pgs. 10-58 

C. Public Comments  

D. Close the Public Hearing  

E. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2026-02, Adopting 
Amendments to the Surface Water Management System Rules 
(Chapter VI) and Conforming Amendment to Amenity 
Management Rule 

Exhibit 3 
Pgs. 60-62 

VII. Staff Reports  
A. District Engineer: David Sowell  
B. Amenity Manager: John Lucansky Exhibit 4 

Pgs. 64-66 
C. Operations Manager: Barry Kloptosky  

1. Presentation of Capital Project Plan Tracker Exhibit 5 
Pg. 68 

2. Monthly Report Exhibit 6 
Pgs. 70-71 

3. Project Status Report Exhibit 7 
Pg. 73 

D. District Counsel: Scott Clark Exhibit 8 
Pg. 75  

E. District Manager: David McInnes  
1. Meeting Matrix Exhibit 9 

Pgs. 77-82 
2. Action Item Report Exhibit 10 

Pgs. 84-88 

  



Page 3 of 3 
 

VIII. Consent Agenda Items  
A. Consideration for Acceptance – The Revised September 2025 

Unaudited Financial Report 
Exhibit 11 

Pgs. 91-95  

B. Consideration for Acceptance – The November 2025 Unaudited 
Financial Report 

Exhibit 12 
Pgs. 97-103  

C. Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of 
Supervisors Regular Meeting Held December 4, 2025 

Exhibit 13 
Pgs. 105-109 

  
IX. Business Items  

A. Consideration of Joshua’s Tree Landscaping, Inc. Proposal - 
$29,000.00 

Exhibit 14 
Pg. 111 

X. Discussion Topics  
A. Update from the Pilot Underground Utilities Threat Mitigation & 

Tree Relocation Plan Work Group – Supervisor Foley 
 

B. 10-Yr. Plan Updates – District Manager  
C. District Management Structure – Continued Discussion from the 

12/04/2025 Meeting 
 

D. District Engineering Services – Dr. Merrill  
E. Pending Supervisor Led Projects  

XI. Supervisors’ Requests  
XII. Action Items Summary  
XIII. Meeting Matrix Summary  
XIV. Adjournment  

 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 



NOTICE OF RULE DEVELOPMENT
BY

THE GRAND HAVEN COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

FOR ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO
STORMWATER RULES

The Board of Supervisors of the Grand
Haven Community  Development
District (“District”) provides notice that
it intends to develop rule amendments
which amend District’s Rules regarding
Surface Water Management Systems,
D r a i n a g e  E a s e m e n t s  a n d
Encroachments on District Property.

The proposed rule will amend certain
requirements regarding drainage
easements and will codify the District’s
fishing policies within the stormwater
rule, moving them from the District’s
Rules, Policies and Fees for All
Amenity Facilities  Specific legal
authority for the rule includes Sections
190.011(5), 190.012(3), 120.54, and
120.81, Florida Statutes (2023).

Any person who wishes to provide the
District with a proposal for a lower cost
regulatory alternative as provided by
Section 120.541(1), Florida Statutes
(2025), or any person who wishes to
request a public hearing on the proposed
rule amendments, must do so in writing
within twenty-one (21) days after
publication of this notice.

A copy of the proposed rule may be
obtained by contacting the District
Manager at 250 International Parkway,
Suite 208, Lake Mary, FL 32746, (321)
263-0132 ext. 193, or by email at
dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com.

District Manager
Grand Haven Community Development
District

December 11, 2025               7763-
328903
Dec. 11, 2025



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO
CONSIDER RULES BY

GRAND HAVEN COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

NOTICE OF MEETING OF BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS OF GRAND HAVEN

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DISTRICT

In accordance with Chapters 190 and
120, Florida Statutes, the Grand Haven
Community Development District
(“District”) hereby gives notice of a
p u b l i c  h e a r i n g  o n  p r o p o s e d
amendments to the District’s Rules
regarding Surface Water Management
Systems, Drainage Easements and
Encroachments on District Property.

T h e  p u r p o s e  a n d  e f f e c t  o f  t h e
amendment is to provide for efficient
and effective District facility operations,
t o  a m e n d  c e r t a i n  r e q u i r e m e n t s
regarding drainage easements and to
codify the District’s fishing policies
within the rule, moving them from the
District’s Rules, Policies and Fees for
All Amenity Facilities. Specific legal
authority for the proposed amendment
includes Sections 190.011(5), 190.012(3),
120.54, and 120.81, Florida Statutes
(2025).

A copy of the proposed amendments
may be obtained by contacting the
District Manager at 250 International
Parkway, Suite 208, Lake Mary, FL
32746, (321) 263-0132 ext. 193, or by
e m a i l  a t
dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com
(“District Office”). A public hearing will
b e  c o n d u c t e d  b y  t h e  B o a r d  o f
Supervisors of  the Grand Haven
Community Development District
(“District”) on January 15, 2026, at
9:00 a.m. at the Grand Haven Room,
Grand Haven Village Center, 2001
Waterside Parkway, Palm Coast, Florida
32137. Notice is further provided,
pursuant to Florida Statutes 189.015(1),
that, at the same time and location, the
Board of Supervisors will hold a regular
meeting of the Board of Supervisors.

If anyone chooses to appeal any decision
of the District’s Board with respect to
any matter considered at the hearing,
such person is required to have a
verbatim record of the proceedings
including the testimony and evidence
upon which such appeal is to be based
and should ensure that such a record is
made accordingly.

Pursuant to provisions of the Americans
with Disabilities Act,  any person
requiring special accommodations to
participate in this hearing is asked to
advise the District Office at least 48
hours before the meetings. If you are
hearing or speech impaired, please
contact the Florida Relay Service at 1
(800) 955-8770, which can aid you in
contacting the District Office.

District Manager
Grand Haven Community Development
District
7763-329773
Dec. 18, 2025



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 





































































































  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 3 









  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 4 



1 
 

  

Monthly Amenity Update 

Date of report   1-7-2025                  Submitted by: John Lucansky 

 
 
December Events: 
  

• Holiday Tree lightning went very well 
o Over 300 attended 
o Eggnog was served to adults and hot chocolate for the 

children 
o The 2026 Tree Lighting event is already scheduled 

 
• A Santa brunch will be added to 2026 calendar 

 
• 5 neighborhood Christmas parties were held, attendance 

was down from the 2023 season 
o All parties have already booked for 2026 

 
 

• Christmas Dinner night was held on 16th and very well 
attended.  

o Served 105 dinner specials  

 
• Trivia, Bingo, and Name That Tune nights continue to be 

popular but attendance down for December due to the 
Holiday season  
 
 

 
 



2 
 

 
 
Amenities: 
 

• Tennis and pickleball play have increased due to the 
snowbirds being back and visiting family 
 

• Croquet showing strong participation 
 

 
 

 
Tiki Hut 

• Closed for the Winter season will reopen in Spring.  Date 
TBD. 

 
 
 
 
Tennis Courts: 
 

• New nets were installed on courts 5 & 6.  
• Some windscreens are showing tearing and dry rot and will 

need replaced soon 
• Clay was added to courts 1 and 2 
• Courts are currently rolled twice a month as needed. 

 

Bocce: 

• Bocce season ended in December 
o Participation is very strong 
o Bocce dinner is scheduled for January 22nd 2026 

 
 

 
 
 
 



3 
 

Amenities quality checks and reporting: 

• We continue to monitor and check all amenities.  

• We use QR codes so the facilitators must physically go to the 

amenities (restrooms, tennis courts, etc…) scan the code and 

enter all required information.  Below are some examples of the 

reports. 

• The facilitators also have a QR code for any issues/repairs that 

need to be reported to the CDD office-I checked these daily and 

forward them to CDD office staff.  This ensures no delays in 

reporting and repairs. 

 

 

 

 
 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 5 



Line Description Budgeted Cost Variance (+/-) Invoiced Amount Final Cost Comments/Notes Completed
1 Gate & Gate Operator - Replacement $13,401 $1,833 First order received 12/23/2025
2 Concrete Curb and Gutter Replacement $60,000 $3,779 In progress by CDD staff
3 Concrete Replacement $20,000 $5,765 In progress by CDD staff
4 Repairs Prior to Roadwork $75,000
5 Firewise Projects $57,758 $24,200 In progress under the direction of the District Horticulturist
6 Road Repairs $33,502
7 Camera and DVR Replacement $12,061 $8,100 First round installed 12/19/2025
8 Storm Water Pipe Repairs & Replacements $200,000
9 Pond Bank Erosion Issues $39,344 Proposal to be presented for Board approval on 01/15/26 

10 Tiki Hut Furniture $5,500 Evaluating options and requesting quotes from vendors
11 Drinking Fountain, Outdoor - Clubhouse ((CAC)) $1,801 -$18 $1,782 $1,782 Completed 12/22/2025 x
12 Irrigation Pump/Motor, 50 Hp $56,861
13 Lake Aerator (Annual) $40,228 Seeking proposals
14 Landscape Enhancements-Annual Reinvestment $59,703 $19,932 In progress under the direction of the District Horticulturist
15 Monument and Mailbox Replacements $25,000 $16,801 Mailboxes ordered for Pine Harbor Village
16 Trellis, PT Wood - Clubhouse (CAC) $10,775
17 Street Signs and Poles, Replacement $10,000 $1,086 First round of signs received 1/6/2026
18 Shelter Fabric, Recover - (VC) Tennis Court $1,493
19 Roadway $145,600
20 Pavers, Interlocking - Front St Esplanade Entrances (3 total) $60,001
21 Meter/Breaker Box Repair & Replacement $23,000 Seeking proposals
22 Tree Removal $84,000
23 Pergola Reconstruction $171,592 $17,159 Project scheduled to begin 01/26/26
24 Callboxes $49,364 $49,364 $49,364 Final kiosk was installed on 11/04/25 x
25 Curb/Gutter Replacement (Cline) $45,573 $45,573 $45,573 Completed 11/10/25. x
26
27 Totals: $1,035,027 $266,511 $195,374 $96,720

GRAND HAVEN
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

FY2025/2026 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN PROJECT TRACKER
01/06/2025



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 6 



 

Barry Kloptosky • Operations Manager 
Grand Haven CDD 
2 N. Village Pkwy 

Palm Coast FL. 32137 
P: 386-447-1888 • F: 386-447-1131 

 

Operations Manager’s Report – For the Thursday January 15th, 2026, Board Meeting 

(This Report Was Submitted for The Agenda On 01/06/2026) 
 

o VILLAGE CENTER PERGOLA 

 The pergola contract has been executed. 

 The deposit has been invoiced and paid. 

 The contractor has started the design phase of the project. 

 The contractor has provided a preliminary draft of the pergola design, and the Board has 

approved the preliminary draft.  

 We had two pre-construction onsite meetings with the contractor. 

 The project design has been completed and submitted to the building department for 

approval. 

 The building department has approved the design and released the permit to the 

contractor. 

 The Notice of Commencement has been signed. 

 The contractor has notified us regarding a start date of January 26, 2026. An Eblast will 

be sent out to notify the community prior to commencement of the project. 

 The contractor estimates a completion date of March 23, 2026. 

 

o MAILBOX REPLACEMENTS 

 Two locations in Pine Harbor Village have been identified for mailbox replacements. 

 The new mailboxes have been ordered and will be installed by CDD staff. 

 



Barry Kloptosky • Operations Manager 
Grand Haven CDD 
2 N. Village Pkwy 

Palm Coast FL. 32137 
P: 386-447-1888 • F: 386-447-1131 

 

 

 ALTERNATE EXIT IN WILD OAKS FOR EMERGENCY PURPOSES 

 The Board approved surveying two areas along the ponds near the entrance of Wild 

Oaks. 

 Surveys have been completed. 

 Florida Forestry Service was onsite 10/13/2025 and did an evaluation. We are waiting 

for a final report from them. 

 Florida Forestry Service is scheduled to make a presentation at the January Regular 

Meeting. 

 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 7 



Capital / 
O&M Project Title Budget Amt Contr

 Date
Sched Start 

Date
Act Start 

Date
Sched Comp 

Date Cur % Comp Amt Paid to 
Date

Act Com 
Date

Act
 Final Cost Budget Var Expl of Var

O&M Pergola Reconstruction $171,592 8/20/25 1/26/26 3/23/26 $17,159

Submitted on: 1/7/2026

CDD
Project Status Report

Prepared by: Vanessa Stepniak, Operations Supervisor



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 8 



GRAND HAVEN MEETING ATTORNEY REPORT LIST (1/15/26) 
 

  
 

1. Golf Course 
 
This matter is ongoing, and any new information or updates will be provided 

 
 

2. Stormwater Rule/ Fishing Language 
 
Notices have been provided and published for the rules hearing.  A summary of 

the changes will be provided during the public hearing. 
 

3. Hurricane Milton Reimbursements 
 
FEMA has made an initial closeout of the claim file from Hurricane Milton due to 

the lengthy time for settling the insurance on the pergola.  I will discuss this and make a 
recommendation as to next steps for the Board to consider. 

 
4. District Structure 

 
I am completing some information gathering on this topic based upon structure 

options in other CDD’s and will report on this. 
 

5. Attorney Fee Tracker   
 
December, 2025 fees:  $10,985 
 
Over/Under Budget: $231.50   (year to date) 
 
 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 9 



GRAND HAVEN MEETING AGENDA MATRIX 
  
 

F
ebruary, 2026 

   

Workshop: 
2/5 

Presentations 
 

Discussions 
• 1. FY 26 Road Resurfacing Project Discussion 

with District Engineer 
• 2. 10 Year Plan Updates 
• 3. Word Search for Certain Documents (Minutes 

and Resolutions) 
• 3. Pending Supervisor Led Projects 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



GRAND HAVEN MEETING AGENDA MATRIX 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

F
ebruary, 2026 

   

Regular 
Meeting: 

2/19 

Presentations 
 

Staff Reports 
• 1. District Engineer 
• 2. District Counsel 
• 3. District Manager 

 
Consent Agenda Items 

• 1. Meeting Minutes—1/15/2025 Regular 
Meeting 

• 2. Unaudited Financials 
o 2a. December 2025 
o 2b. January 2026 

 
Business Items 
 
Discussions 

• 1. 10 Year Plan Updates 
• 2. Pending Supervisor Led Projects 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



GRAND HAVEN MEETING AGENDA MATRIX 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

M
arch, 2026 

   

Regular 
Meeting: 

2/19 

Presentations 
 

Staff Reports 
• 1. District Engineer 
• 2. District Counsel 
• 3. District Manager 

 
Consent Agenda Items 

• 1. Meeting Minutes 
o 2/5/2025 Workshop 
o 2/19/2025 Regular Meeting 

• 2. Unaudited Financials—February 2026 
 
Business Items 
 
Discussions 

• 1. 10 Year Plan Updates 
• 2. Pending Supervisor Led Projects 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



GRAND HAVEN MEETING AGENDA MATRIX 
  

U
nscheduled Item

s 

 
 

Future Workshop Issues: 
 

• 1. Future of Amenities Discussion  
 

• 2. 10-year Landscape Enhancements (Louise) 
 

• 3. Budget Reduction Suggestion by Residents 
 

• 4. Presentation by Amenity Manager on Future 
Amenity Ideas 
 

• 5. Framework for Sports Professional 
 

• 6. Bullet Point Guidelines for Residents to Follow 
Regarding Pond Bank Matters 
 

Future Meeting Issues: 
 

• 1. 10-Year Plan Presentation to Residents 
• 2. MBS Capital Markets LLC (Bond Underwriter) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
• 1. 11/6/2025 meeting request from Dr. Merrill 
 
• 2. 11/6/2025 meeting request from Dr. Merrill 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• 5. John Lucansky to provide suggested framework 
 
• 6. 9/19/2024 Meeting:  Louise to research and provide guidelines 

(bullet point fashion) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



GRAND HAVEN MEETING AGENDA MATRIX 
  

SUBJECT  
NOTES 

 Communications (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Ten year plan presentation—on Hold 
 

Safety and Security (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Plan for more perimeter fencing: Flagler County seeking funding 
alternatives. 10/5/2023 workshop added the matter of sound barrier 
walls; 1/4/2024 workshop: Barry provided rough estimate: 6/6 
workshop update from Supervisor Crouch. County to repair fencing 
along Colbert Lane 
 

Café’ Renovations (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Completed 
Vesta’s Participation in Café (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Completed 
Parking Lot (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • 3/20/2025: Board voted to end project 
What to do with Parcel K (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Ongoing 
Parcel next to Golf Course (Easement) (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Ongoing 
Banking Oversight (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Ongoing 
Oak Tree Management (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Ongoing 
Dog Park (FY 23-FY 24 Goal) • Minimal upgrades: (10/19/2023 Meeting);--Pending Further 

Discussion by Board 
Review/revise employee benefit program (FY 25-FY 26 Goal) • Done 

 
Reserve Study (FY 25-FY 26 Goal) 

 
• Done 

Pond and Tree Programs (FY 25-FY 26 Goal) 
 

• Underway 

CDD Managerial Staff (recommendations from DM, OS and OM) (FY 25-
FY 26 Goal) 
 

 

Barrier System for Feral Hogs (establish a FFG) (FY 25-FY 26 Goal) 
 

• Underway (FFG) 

Landscaping company for all of Grand Haven (discuss with Louise) (FY 25-
FY 26 Goal) 
 

 
 

Analysis of Grand Haven (Supervisor Foley) (FY 25-FY 26 Goal) 
 

• 3/6/2025: Board decided to pause this matter 

Emergency Exit for Wild Oaks (FY 25-FY 26 Goal) 
 

• Underway 

  



GRAND HAVEN MEETING AGENDA MATRIX 
  

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 10 



Date of Action 
Item 

Action Item Status 

 DISTRICT MANGER SECTION  
   

8/21/2025 DM, OM, OS and Howard McGaffney to 
provide recommended guidelines for 
items listed in CRF which should be 
listed in O&M 
 

Done 

   
XXXXXXXXXXX

XXXX 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXXXX 

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXX 

   
 OPERATIONS 

MANAGER/OPERATIONS 
SUPERVISOR SECTION 

 

   
2/1/2024 OM to obtain proposal for surveying 

boundary for all of Grand Haven 
Paused 

   
4/18/2024 OM to review operational performance 

of stormwater structures 
 

Underway 

   
6/20/2024 OM to provide Board with feedback from 

employees on current benefits 
Underway 

   
7/18/2024 OS to visit 2 other CDDs each year to 

see how they operate and to speak with 
their staff regarding matters of interest 
 

 

   
7/18/2024 OM and OS review information provided 

by Grand Haven resident at a recent 
meeting regarding how the community 
of Celebration deals with minimizing 
potential sidewalk and roadway damage 
from Oak Trees 

 

   
9/5/2024 OS--Louise to contact IFAS to see if new 

treatment is available for duckweed 
(memo back to Board on findings) 
 

 

   
9/19/2024 OS--Louise to research and provide 

guidelines (bullet point fashion) for 
residents to follow around ponds. These 

 



will be discussed in a future workshop 
before being disseminated to residents 
 

9/30/2024 OM to establish replacement process for 
District Assets 
 

 

9/30/2024 OM/OS to place signage on bathroom 
doors stating “Resident Use Only” 
 

 

   
11/7/2024 OS to provide suggestions to limit golf 

course users from accessing and using 
District amenities 
 

 

   
11/7/2024 OM to check outfalls in specific Wild 

Oaks area to see if pipe blockage exists 
 

 

   
1/16/2025 OM/OS to obtain from Louise plans of 

what to do with Dog Park 
 

Done 

   
2/20/2025 Louise to start to prioritize what Oak 

Trees need to be removed 
 

Done 

   
4/17/2025 OM to proceed with obtaining a proposal 

for emergency exit in Wild Oak 
 

 

   
4/17/2025 OM to check on stop sign at Waterside 

and Marlin 
 

Done 

   
7/17/2025 OM to transfer road signage to Waterside 

Parkway (for 
Waterside/Sandpiper/Marlin intersection 

Done 

   
8/21/2025  OM to call sound reduction expert 

regarding noise abatement possibilities 
for Waterside Café 
 

 

   
9/18/2025 OS (Louise) to obtain estimates for dog park 

improvements from VerdeGo 
Done 

   



10/16/2025 OM/OS: Provide recommendations for 
signage and communication on ponds 
allowing fishing/no fishing (for 11/6 
meeting) 
 

Done 

   
10/16/2025 OM/OS/Amenity Mgr.: Provide 

recommendations to address the parking 
issues recently seen (for 11/6 meeting) 
 

Done 

   
10/16/2025 OM/OS: Ask Pratt Guy how long City of 

Palm Coast estimates permitting review 
will take 
 

 

   
10/16/2025 OS: Send E-Blast in May. 2026 

regarding qualifying for Board seat 
during June qualifying period with 
Supervisor of Elections 
 

 

10/16/2025 OM: Check drainage pipe at entry of 
Wild Oaks (right side) to make sure it is 
functioning correctly 

 

   
10/16/2025 OS: Check internet connection at Village 

Center 
Done 

   
11/6/2025 OM to provide updated amounts for 

paver/sidewalk damage at golf course 
 

   
11/6/2025 OM to provide pricing for in-house vs. 

hiring outside vendor for dog park drainage 
project 

 

   
11/6/2025 OS/Amenity Manager to send out E-Blasts 

about parking at Village Center 
 

   
11/6/2025 OS (Louise ) to provide 10-year landscape 

enhancement plan 
 

   
12/4/2025 OM to speak with DC regarding leaf pick up 

restraints 
 

   
12/4/2025 OM to obtain proposal for purchase of leaf 

pick up vehicle and proposal for vendor for 
leaf pick up 

 

   



12/4/2025 OM to work with DE on paving proposals 
for FY 26 

 

   
12/4/2025 OS to work with FFG on Zero Based 

Budgeting for Contract Tracking and 
Updates 

Underway 

   
XXXXXXXXXXX

XXXX 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXXXX 

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXX 

   
 DISTRICT ENGINEER SECTION  
   

11/6/2025 DE to provide proposal for Dog Park 
Drainage Plan Design 

12/4/2025: Board voted for DE 
to stop work on this proposal (if 
not already done) 

   
XXXXXXXXXXX

XXXX 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXXXX 

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXX 

   
 BOARD SECTION  
   

3/21/2024 Dr. Merrill (in conjunction with DC when 
needed) to see about future plans for 
Escalante 
 

Underway 

   
12/4/2025 Supervisor Chism to provide list of action 

items from FFG on Zero Based Budgeting 
 

   
XXXXXXXXXXX

XXXX 
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXXXX 

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXX 

   
 DISTRICT COUNSEL SECTION  
   

1/19/2023 DC to work with City of Palm Coast to 
determine current storm clean up protocol 
and to provide a new MOU if possible 

Underway 

   
4/18/2024 DC to review agreements with Escalante 

versus current operational processes 
 

Underway 

   
8/1/2024 DC to write a letter to Escalante 

regarding the District’s desire that they 
enhance their pond banks maintenance 
by abiding by Best Management 
Practices and to list in the letter 
examples that Louise is to provide of 

On hold 



things she has done (and costs incurred) 
due to the lack of following BMPs. 
 

   
      

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 11 



Grand Haven
Community Development District 

Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

September 30, 2025



Special 
General Revenue

Fund Fund Total

1 Assets:
2 BankUnited - Operating 241,641$           -$                      241,641$           
3 Valley National Bank - Operating 1,430,021          -                        1,430,021          
4 Truist - Operating 7,782                 -                        7,782                 
5 SBA 161601A 8,176                 -                        8,176                 
6 BankUnited - Savings 2,445,894          -                        2,445,894          
7 Interest Receivable 12,839               
8 Accounts Receivable 3,481                 -                        3,481                 
9 Assessments Receivable 2,701                 590                    3,290                 

10 Due From Other -                        1,328,363          1,328,363          
11 Deposits 110                    -                        110                    
12 Prepaid Items 17,468               -                        17,468               
13 Total Assets 4,170,112$        1,328,953$        5,486,226$        

14 Liabilities:
15 Accounts Payable 138,159$           (119)$                138,040             
16 Deferred Revenue 2,701                 590                    3,290                 
17 Due to Other 1,328,363          -                        1,328,363          
18 Total Liabilities 1,469,223          471                    1,469,694          

19 Fund Balance:
20 Non-Spendable:
21 Prepaid & Deposits 17,578               -                        17,578               
22 Assigned:
23 Operating Capital 755,668             -                        755,668             
24 Disaster * 803,419             -                        803,419             
25 Unassigned 1,124,223          1,328,482          2,452,705          
26 Total Fund Balance 2,700,888          1,328,482          4,029,371          

27 Total Liabilities & Fund Balance 4,170,112$        1,328,953$        5,499,065$        

* $158,810 (Hurricane Ian) and $225,603 (Hurricane Milton)

Grand Haven CDD
Balance Sheet

September 30, 2025



FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget September  Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

1 REVENUES
2 Assessments Levied
3 Assessment Levy - General Fund 4,316,689$     -$                4,343,318         26,629$               101%
4 Assessment Levy - Lavista Landscape 25,852            -                  26,028              176                      101%
5 Assessment Levy - Escalante 2,831              -                  2,850                19                        101%
6 Additional Revenues
7 Reuse Water 23,000            3,572          32,297              9,297                   140%
8 Gate & Amenity Guest 9,000              947             19,142              10,142                 213%
9 Tennis 500                 115             2,009                1,509                   402%

10 Room Rental & Rec Center Fee 2,000              887             1,037                (963)                    52%
11 Interest - Investments 30,000            7,271          187,614            157,614               625%
12 Miscellaneous -                     44               1,787                1,787                   -
13  Insurance Proceeds -                     2,336          2,336                2,336                   -
14 Fund Balance Forward 124,136          -                  -                        (124,136)             0%
15 TOTAL REVENUES 4,534,008$     15,171$      4,618,416         84,408$               102%

16 EXPENDITURES
17 ADMINISTRATIVE
18 Supervisors - Regular Meetings 12,000$          800$           11,800$            (200)$                  98%
19 Supervisors - Workshops 9,000              1,000          6,800                (2,200)                 76%
20 District Management 44,413            3,701          46,032              1,619                   104%
21 Administrative 11,806            984             11,806              (0)                        100%
22 Accounting 24,378            2,032          24,378              -                          100%
23 Assessment Roll Preparation 10,727            894             10,727              0                          100%
24 Office Supplies 1,180              -                  -                        (1,180)                 0%
25 Postage 3,539              -                  3,799                260                      107%
26 Audit 4,400              -                  4,400                -                          100%
27 Legal - General Counsel 114,067          12,050        137,428            23,361                 120%
28 Engineering 42,800            -                  60,144              17,344                 141%
29 Legal Advertising 6,134              110             2,588                (3,546)                 42%
30 Bank Fees 1,770              -                  1,024                (746)                    58%
31 Dues & Licenses 206                 -                  175                   (31)                      85%
32 Property Taxes 2,831              -                  2,842                11                        100%
33 Reserve Study -                     -                  11,100              11,100                 -
34 Contingency 25,000            612             10,511              (14,489)               42%
35 TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE 314,251          22,182        345,553            31,302                 110%

36 INFORMATION & TECHNOLOGY
37 IT Support 35,890            2,549          30,289              (5,601)                 84%
38 Village Center & Creekside Telephone/Fax 7,906              551             10,640              2,734                   135%
39 Village Center & Creekside Cable/Internet 14,445            1,603          18,015              3,570                   125%
40 Wi-Fi for Gates/Hot Spots 30,745            2,330          28,508              (2,237)                 93%
41 Cell Phones 8,390              472             5,800                (2,590)                 69%
42 Website Hosting & Development 1,787              -                  -                        (1,787)                 0%
43 ADA Website Compliance 248                 -                  2,104                1,856                   848%
44 Communications: E-Blast 590                 62               696                   106                      118%
45 TOTAL INFORMATION & TECHNOLOGY 100,001          7,567          96,052              (3,949)                 96%

46 INSURANCE
47 Insurance 195,514          -                  167,394            (28,120)               86%
48 TOTAL INSURANCE 195,514          -                  167,394            (28,120)               86%

49 UTILITIES
50 Electric:
51 Electric Services - #12316, 85596, 65378 8,939              1,107          10,549              1,610                   118%

Grand Haven CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025



FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget September  Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

Grand Haven CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025

52 Electric - Village Center #18308 41,718            3,506          28,966              (12,752)               69%
53 Electric - Creekside #87064, 70333 29,924            1,690          22,195              (7,729)                 74%
54 Streetlights 30,307            2,208          26,459              (3,848)                 87%
55 Propane - Spas/Café 32,911            2,246          39,973              7,062                   121%
56 Garbage - Amenity Facilities 17,931            1,680          19,536              1,605                   109%
57 Water/Sewer:
58 Water Services 151,744          14,553        261,657            109,913               172%
59 Water - Village Center #324043-44997 21,776            1,258          18,399              (3,377)                 84%
60 Water - Creekside #324043-45080 9,277              752             13,354              4,077                   144%
61 Pump House Shared Facility 5,473              -                  7,761                2,288                   142%
62 TOTAL UTILITIES 350,000          28,999        448,849            98,849                 128%

63 FIELD OPERATIONS
64 Stormwater System:
65 Aquatic Contract 63,600            4,782          57,387              (6,213)                 90%
66 Aquatic Contract - Lake Watch 5,350              -                  2,455                (2,895)                 46%
67 Aquatic Contract - Aeration Maintenance 4,719              -                  1,289                (3,430)                 27%
68 Lake Bank Spraying 7,161              -                  -                        (7,161)                 0%
69 Stormwater system repairs & maintenance 17,199            -                  7,449                (9,750)                 43%
70 Property Maintenance:
71 Horticultural Consultant 11,325            900             12,000              675                      106%
72 Landscape Repairs & Replacement 47,144            571             35,409              (11,736)               75%
73 Landscape Maintenance - Contracted Services - VerdeGo 697,155          56,404        676,849            (20,306)               97%
74 Landscape Maintenance - Yellowstone 75,900            5,923          70,208              (5,693)                 93%
75 Tree Maintenance - Oak Tree Pruning 49,280            -                  46,400              (2,880)                 94%
76 Lavista Landscape Restoration 25,852            -                  -                        (25,852)               0%
77 Optional Flower Rotation 25,000            -                  -                        (25,000)               0%
78 Dog Park Maintenance 10,000            -                  4,200                (5,800)                 42%
79 Irrigation Repairs & Replacement 40,000            2,415          39,573              (427)                    99%
80 Streetlight Maintenance 10,089            32               5,879                (4,210)                 58%
81 Vehicle Repairs & Maintenance 17,056            1,292          26,375              9,319                   155%
82 Office Supplies - Field Operations 16,515            465             9,437                (7,078)                 57%
83 Holiday Lights 10,617            -                  4,583                (6,034)                 43%
84 CERT Operations 500                 -                  585                   85                        117%
85 Community Maintenance 153,700          2,551          114,270            (39,430)               74%
86 Storm Clean-Up 30,672            -                  225,603            194,931               736%
87 TOTAL FIELD OPERATIONS 1,318,834       75,334        1,339,951         21,117                 102%

88 STAFF SUPPORT
89 Payroll 742,000          54,565        690,615            (51,385)               93%
90 Merit Pay/Bonus 45,000            2,085          33,809              (11,191)               75%
91 Payroll Taxes 53,000            4,343          61,564              8,564                   116%
92 Health Insurance 137,238          -                  113,959            (23,279)               83%
93 Insurance - Workers' Compensation 20,000            -                  13,543              (6,457)                 68%
94 Payroll Services 6,250              358             10,848              4,598                   174%
95 Mileage Reimbursement 8,000              300             4,331                (3,669)                 54%
96 TOTAL STAFF SUPPORT 1,011,488       61,651        928,670            (82,818)               92%

97 AMENITY OPERATIONS
98 Amenity Management 700,000          58,214        698,572            (1,428)                 100%
99 A/C Maintenance & Service 21,982            75               5,800                (16,183)               26%

100 Fitness Equipment Service 3,651              -                  1,450                (2,201)                 40%
101 Music Licensing 4,280              -                  4,450                170                      104%
102 Pool/Spa Permits 1,032              -                  896                   (136)                    87%
103 Pool Chemicals 26,585            1,979          40,927              14,342                 154%



FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget September  Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

Grand Haven CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025

104 Pest Control 2,663              644             3,024                361                      114%
105 Amenity Maintenance 157,500          5,871          222,554            65,054                 141%
106 Special Events 16,278            300             7,839                (8,439)                 48%
107 TOTAL AMENITY OPERATIONS 933,971          67,084        985,511            51,540                 106%

108 SECURITY
109 Gate Access Control Staffing 228,149          16,210        208,072            (20,077)               91%
110 Additional Guards 7,000              -                  468                   (6,532)                 7%
111 Guardhouse Facility Maintenance 26,750            3,409          21,390              (5,360)                 80%
112 Gate Communication Devices 11,041            130             10,339              (702)                    94%
113 Gate Operating Supplies 30,000            2,136          10,772              (19,228)               36%
114 Fire & Security System 7,009              109             3,214                (3,795)                 46%
115 TOTAL SECURITY 309,949          21,995        254,255            (55,694)               82%

116 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 4,534,008$     284,812$    4,566,235         32,227$               101%

117 REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                     (269,641)     52,181              52,181                 

118 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
119   Transfer In -                     -                  -                        -                          
120   Transfer Out -                     -                  -                        -                          
121 TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -                     -                  -                        -                          

122 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                     (269,641)     52,181              52,181                 
123 Fund Balance - Beginning 2,355,871       2,648,707         292,837               
124 Fund Balance Forward (124,136)        -                        124,136               
125 FUND BALANCE - ENDING - PROJECTED 2,231,735$     2,700,888         469,154$             



FY 2025 FY 2025 FY 2025 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget September Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

1 REVENUES
2   Assessments Levied (Net) 948,714$           -$                       954,570$           5,856$               101%
3   Interest -                         -                         -                         -                         
4   Insurance Proceeds -                         148,674             148,674             148,674             
5 Fund Balance Forward 878,216             -                         -                         (878,216)            
6 TOTAL REVENUES 1,826,930          148,674             1,103,244          (723,686)            60%

7 EXPENDITURES
8   Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 1,826,930          116,966             1,666,105          (160,825)            91%
9 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,826,930$        116,966$           1,666,105$        (160,825)$          91%

10 REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                         31,708               (562,861)            (562,861)            

11 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
12   Transfer In -                         -                         -                         -                         
13   Transfer Out -                         -                         -                         -                         
14 TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -                         -                         -                         -                         

15 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                         31,708               (562,861)            (562,861)            
16 Fund Balance - Beginning 1,616,939          1,891,343          274,404             
17 Fund Balance Forward (878,216)            -                         -                         
18 FUND BALANCE - ENDING - PROJECTED 738,723$           1,328,482$        589,759$           

Grand Haven CDD
Capital Reserve Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 12 



Grand Haven
Community Development District 

Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

November 30, 2025



Special 
General Revenue

Fund Fund Total

1 Assets:
2 BankUnited - Operating 2,188$               -$                      2,188$               
3 Valley National Bank - Operating 4,338,749          -                        4,338,749          
4 Truist - Operating 9,119                 -                        9,119                 
5 SBA 161601A 8,233                 -                        8,233                 
6 Interest Receivable 21,495               -                        21,495               
7 Accounts Receivable 8,314                 -                        8,314                 
8 Assessments Receivable 3,682,866          807,787             4,490,653          
9 Due From Other Funds -                        1,418,794          1,418,794          

10 Deposits 110                    -                        110                    
11 Prepaid Items 17,468               -                        17,468               
12 Total Assets 8,088,543$        2,226,581$        10,315,124$      

13 Liabilities:
14 Accounts Payable 112,565$           (119)$                112,446             
15 Deferred Revenue 3,682,866          807,787             4,490,653          
16 Due to Other Funds 1,418,794          -                        1,418,794          
17 Total Liabilities 5,214,226          807,668             6,021,894          

18 Fund Balance:
19 Non-Spendable:
20 Prepaid & Deposits 17,578               -                        17,578               
21 Assigned:
22 Operating Capital -                        -                        -                        
23 Disaster * -                        -                        -                        
24 Unassigned 2,856,738          1,418,913          4,275,651          
25 Total Fund Balance 2,874,317          1,418,913          4,293,230          

26 Total Liabilities & Fund Balance 8,088,543$        2,226,581$        10,315,124$      

* $158,810 (Hurricane Ian) and $223,884 (Hurricane Milton)

Grand Haven CDD
Balance Sheet

November 30, 2025



FY 2026 FY 2026 FY 2026 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget November  Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

1 REVENUES
2 Assessments Levied
3 Assessment Levy - General Fund 4,642,810       -$                965,467$          (3,677,343)$        21%
4 Assessment Levy - Lavista Landscape 4,000              -                  832                   (3,168)                 21%
5 Assessment Levy - Escalante 2,973              -                  618                   (2,355)                 21%
6 Additional Revenues
7 Reuse Water 23,000            2,479          5,010                (17,990)               22%
8 Gate & Amenity Guest 9,000              1,339          2,179                (6,821)                 24%
9 Tennis 500                 71               208                   (292)                    42%

10 Room Rental & Rec Center Fee 2,000              400             597                   (1,403)                 30%
11 Interest - Investments 150,000          7,364          21,576              (128,424)             14%
12 Miscellaneous -                     56               104                   104                      -
13 TOTAL REVENUES 4,834,283       11,709        996,591            (3,837,692)          21%

14 EXPENDITURES
15 ADMINISTRATIVE
16 Supervisors - Regular Meetings 12,000            -                  2,000                (10,000)               17%
17 Supervisors - Workshops 9,000              -                  -                        (9,000)                 0%
18 District Management 46,634            -                  7,772                (38,862)               17%
19 Administrative 12,396            -                  2,066                (10,330)               17%
20 Accounting 25,597            -                  4,266                (21,330)               17%
21 Assessment Roll Preparation 11,264            -                  1,877                (9,386)                 17%
22 Office Supplies 1,180              -                  -                        (1,180)                 0%
23 Postage 4,104              -                  75                     (4,030)                 2%
24 Audit 4,500              -                  -                        (4,500)                 0%
25 Legal - General Counsel 170,000          -                  14,348              (155,653)             8%
26 Engineering 45,796            -                  1,916                (43,880)               4%
27 Engineering - Stormwater Analysis 5,000              
28 Legal Advertising 5,000              -                  193                   (4,808)                 4%
29 Bank Fees 1,858              -                  -                        (1,858)                 0%
30 Dues & Licenses 175                 -                  175                   -                          100%
31 Property Taxes 2,973              -                  2,553                (420)                    86%
32 Contingency 96,160            -                  75                     (96,085)               0%
33 TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE 453,636          -                  37,316              (411,320)             8%

34 INFORMATION & TECHNOLOGY
35 IT Support 31,500            2,549          5,098                (26,402)               16%
36 Village Center & Creekside Telephone/Fax 8,459              811             1,070                (7,389)                 13%
37 Village Center & Creekside Cable/Internet 17,200            1,603          3,205                (13,995)               19%
38 Wi-Fi for Gates/Hot Spots 32,897            1,378          3,456                (29,441)               11%
39 Cell Phones 8,977              440             881                   (8,096)                 10%
40 Website Hosting & Development 1,912              -                  -                        (1,912)                 0%
41 ADA Website Compliance 1,500              379             379                   (1,121)                 25%
42 Communications: E-Blast 631                 -                  62                     (569)                    10%
43 TOTAL INFORMATION & TECHNOLOGY 103,077          7,160          14,151              (88,925)               14%

44 INSURANCE
45 Insurance 142,000          141,910      141,910            (90)                      100%
46 TOTAL INSURANCE 142,000          141,910      141,910            (90)                      100%

47 UTILITIES
48 Electric:
49 Electric Services - #12316, 85596, 65378 9,564              1,034          1,819                (7,745)                 19%
50 Electric - Village Center #18308 44,638            3,232          5,874                (38,764)               13%
51 Electric - Creekside #87064, 70333 32,019            1,547          3,170                (28,849)               10%

Grand Haven CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2025 to November 30, 2025



FY 2026 FY 2026 FY 2026 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget November  Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

Grand Haven CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2025 to November 30, 2025

52 Streetlights 32,429            2,288          4,507                (27,921)               14%
53 Propane - Spas/Café 60,000            3,259          7,130                (52,870)               12%
54 Garbage - Amenity Facilities 19,186            1,754          3,310                (15,876)               17%
55 Water/Sewer:
56 Water Services 180,000          16,943        37,513              (142,487)             21%
57 Water - Village Center #324043-44997 25,000            1,379          3,142                (21,858)               13%
58 Water - Creekside #324043-45080 14,000            848             1,726                (12,274)               12%
59 Pump House Shared Facility 10,000            1,958          5,703                (4,297)                 57%
60 TOTAL UTILITIES 426,836          34,243        73,895              (352,941)             17%

61 FIELD OPERATIONS
62 Stormwater System:
63 Aquatic Contract 68,052            -                  9,851                (58,201)               14%
64 Aquatic Contract - Lake Watch 7,663              -                  -                        (7,663)                 0%
65 Aquatic Contract - Aeration Maintenance 5,049              -                  644                   (4,405)                 13%
66 Stormwater system repairs & maintenance 18,403            -                  -                        (18,403)               0%
67 Property Maintenance:
68 Horticultural Consultant 12,118            1,500          2,400                (9,718)                 20%
69 Landscape Repairs & Replacement 50,444            -                  3,165                (47,279)               6%
70 Landscape Maintenance - Contracted Services - VerdeGo 718,070          56,404        112,808            (605,262)             16%
71 Landscape Maintenance - Yellowstone 79,695            5,923          11,845              (67,850)               15%
72 Tree Maintenance - Oak Tree Pruning 52,730            19,200        22,400              (30,330)               42%
73 Lavista Landscape Restoration 4,000              -                  -                        (4,000)                 0%
74 Optional Flower Rotation 26,750            -                  -                        (26,750)               0%
75 Irrigation Repairs & Replacement 42,800            1,029          2,551                (40,249)               6%
76 Streetlight Maintenance 10,795            2,233          2,264                (8,531)                 21%
77 Vehicle Repairs & Maintenance 18,249            467             1,926                (16,323)               11%
78 Office Supplies - Field Operations 17,672            491             1,570                (16,102)               9%
79 Holiday Lights 6,000              940             1,039                (4,961)                 17%
80 CERT Operations 535                 -                  173                   (362)                    32%
81 Community Maintenance 150,000          9,362          15,445              (134,555)             10%
82 Storm Clean-Up 32,819            -                  -                        (32,819)               0%
83 TOTAL FIELD OPERATIONS 1,321,843       97,548        188,082            (1,133,761)          14%

84 STAFF SUPPORT
85 Payroll Expense 785,000          125,723            (659,277)             16%
86 Merit Pay/Bonus 45,000            -                        (45,000)               0%
87 Payroll Taxes 63,100            17,497              (45,603)               28%
88 Employee Insurance 111,000          15,283              (95,717)               14%
89 Insurance - Workers' Compensation 30,000            6,628                (23,372)               22%
90 Payroll & People Services 34,000            4,008                (29,992)               12%
91 Mileage Reimbursement 8,000              721                   (7,279)                 9%
92 TOTAL STAFF SUPPORT 1,076,100       -                  169,859            (906,241)             16%

93 AMENITY OPERATIONS
94 Amenity Management 735,000          60,890        121,780            (613,220)             17%
95 A/C Maintenance & Service 23,521            3,189          3,189                (20,332)               14%
96 Fitness Equipment Service 3,400              -                  425                   (2,975)                 13%
97 Music Licensing 4,580              2,207          2,207                (2,373)                 48%
98 Pool/Spa Permits 1,104              -                  -                        (1,104)                 0%
99 Pool Chemicals 28,446            3,911          7,822                (20,624)               27%

100 Pest Control 2,850              525             700                   (2,149)                 25%
101 Amenity Maintenance 168,525          11,314        24,023              (144,502)             14%
102 Special Events 17,418            510             2,860                (14,558)               16%
103 TOTAL AMENITY OPERATIONS 984,843          82,546        163,005            (821,838)             17%



FY 2026 FY 2026 FY 2026 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget November  Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

Grand Haven CDD
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2025 to November 30, 2025

104 SECURITY
105 Gate Access Control Staffing 239,556          16,060        32,196              (207,361)             13%
106 Additional Guards 7,490              -                  786                   (6,704)                 11%
107 Guardhouse Facility Maintenance 28,088            123             1,267                (26,821)               5%
108 Gate Communication Devices 11,814            -                  -                        (11,814)               0%
109 Gate Operating Supplies 31,500            161             2,102                (29,398)               7%
110 Fire & Security System 7,500              348             1,294                (6,206)                 17%
111 TOTAL SECURITY 325,947          16,692        37,644              (288,303)             12%

112 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 4,834,283$     380,098$    825,863$          (4,003,419)$        17%

113 REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -                     (368,389)     170,728            165,728               

114 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
115   Transfer In -                     -                  -                        -                          
116   Transfer Out -                     -                  -                        -                          
117 TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -                     -                  -                        -                          

118 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                     (368,389)     170,728            165,728               
119 Fund Balance - Beginning 2,703,589         2,703,589            
120 Fund Balance Forward -                        -                          
121 FUND BALANCE - ENDING - PROJECTED -$                   2,874,317$       2,869,317$          



FY 2026 FY 2026 FY 2026 Over (Under)
Adopted Month of Actual Amt to FY % of
Budget November Year-to-Date Annual Budget Budget

1 REVENUES
2   Assessments Levied (Net) 1,019,867$        -$                       212,080$           (807,787)$          21%
3   Interest -                         -                         -                         -                         
4   Insurance Proceeds -                         -                         -                         -                         
5 Fund Balance Forward 15,159               -                         -                         (15,159)              
6 TOTAL REVENUES 1,035,026          -                         212,080             (822,946)            20%

7 EXPENDITURES
8   Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 1,035,027          17,528               122,239             (912,788)            12%
9 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,035,027$        17,528$             122,239$           (912,788)$          12%

10 REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (1)                       (17,528)              89,841               89,842               

11 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
12   Transfer In -                         -                         -                         -                         
13   Transfer Out -                         -                         -                         -                         
14 TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) -                         -                         -                         -                         

15 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (1)                       (17,528)              89,841               89,842               
16 Fund Balance - Beginning 1,329,072          1,329,072          
17 Fund Balance Forward -                         -                         
18 FUND BALANCE - ENDING - PROJECTED (1)$                     1,418,913$        1,418,914$        

Grand Haven CDD
Capital Reserve Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
For the period from October 1, 2025 to November 30, 2025



Institution Type
October 
Balance Rate

November 
Balance Rate

December 
Balance Rate

January 
Balance Rate

February 
Balance Rate

March 
Balance Rate

BankUnited DDA* 241,641$       0.00% -                         0.00%

ICS** 2,452,990     3.39% 5,528               3.39%

Valley National DDA* 870,123         4.05% 4,355,535     3.80%

Florida Prime Investment*** 8,205               4.29% 8,233               4.15%

Truist DDA* 8,598               0.01% 9,119               0.01%

Total Cash 3,581,557$   4,378,416$   

Institution Type April Balance Rate May Balance Rate
June 
Balance Rate

July 
Balance Rate

August 
Balance Rate

September 
Balance Rate

Valley National DDA*

Florida Prime Investment***

Truist DDA*

Total Cash

* DDA's are covered by traditional FDIC up to $250,000

** The ICS program balance is 100% covered by FDIC insurance

*** This cash is invested in high grade AAA short term paper

Grand Haven CDD
Monthly Cash Positions

FY 2026



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 13 



MINUTES OF MEETING 1 

GRAND HAVEN 2 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3 

 The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Grand Haven Community Development 4 
District was held on Thursday, December 4, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. at the Grand Haven Room, located at the 5 
Grand Haven Village Center, 2001 Waterside Parkway, Palm Coast, Florida, 32137. 6 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS – Call to Order/Roll Call 7 

Mr. McInnes called the meeting to order and conducted roll call. 8 

Present and constituting a quorum were:  9 

Dr. Merrill Stass-Isern Board Supervisor, Chairwoman 10 
Nancy Crouch Board Supervisor, Vice Chairwoman 11 
Kevin Foley Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 12 
John Chism Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 13 
Steve Brazen Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 14 

Also present were: 15 

David McInnes District Manager, Vesta District Services 16 
Jay King Senior Vice President, Vesta Property Services 17 
Jason Davidson Regional General Manager, Vesta Property Services 18 
Scott Clark (via phone) District Counsel 19 
Barry Kloptosky Operations Manager 20 
Vanessa Stepniak Operations Supervisor 21 
John Lucansky Amenity Manager 22 
Louise Leister District Horticulturist 23 
JD Stratton Resident 24 
Donna McGevna Resident 25 
Kenneth McGevna Resident 26 
Veronica Reinhardt Resident 27 
Rich Gibbs Resident 28 
 29 

The following is a summary of the discussions and actions taken at the December 4, 2025 Grand Haven 30 
CDD Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting. Audio for this meeting is available upon public records 31 
request. 32 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS – Pledge of Allegiance 33 

The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Dr. Merrill. 34 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for agenda 35 
and non-agenda items) 36 

Mr. Stratton expressed confusion regarding fishing permissions for residents, and requested 37 
clarification. Dr. Merrill noted that this would be discussed further under the District Counsel’s 38 
report, and that a copy of guidance presented could be provided upon request. 39 

Ms. McGevna commented negatively on the responsiveness of the Board, and suggested that 40 
members of the community may currently be dissatisfied with results and communications. 41 

Mr. McGevna expressed concerns regarding the handling of the Capital Improvement Plan and 42 
modifications with the budget, as the process may not have been carried out properly. Mr. McGevna 43 
also questioned the utility of capital budget tracking, as there may not be a comparison point to 44 
track data against if it had not been prepared before. 45 



Grand Haven CDD December 4, 2025 
Regular Meeting Page 2 of 5 
 

Ms. Reinhardt noted some confusion among residents that had properties under PLM regarding the 46 
CDD’s intentions with consolidating landscape management under one company. Dr. Merrill 47 
clarified that previous statements regarding this topic were referring to the common areas rather 48 
than private residences. Ms. Reinhardt also expressed support for continuing to explore ideas on 49 
addressing the dog park, recalling that the District Horticulturist may have had alternative 50 
suggestions worth consideration. Ms. Reinhardt additionally requested transparency on the tree 51 
program, highlighting confusion from community members regarding different statements and 52 
understandings of tree parameters for the program.  53 

Mr. Gibbs requested that the Board look into the feasibility of getting a street sweeper to help with 54 
cleanup throughout months with high leaf-fall. Mr. Gibbs suggested that an ad-hoc committee could 55 
be assembled focused on researching the viability. Comments were heard from the Board regarding 56 
the CDD’s responsibilities not including expenses towards resident infrastructure, as well as the 57 
relative costs of leaf-pickup programs and commercial leaf vacuums. 58 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Presentations 59 

A. Fact Finding Group, Zero Base Budgeting – Bob Covell 60 

Mr. Covell gave a presentation on behalf of the budget Fact Finding Group, noting the support and 61 
contributions from Ms. Stepniak and Mr. McInnes in providing important data for zero base 62 
budgeting. Mr. Covell highlighted some shortcomings in current contract coverage particularly 63 
with ambiguities as to whether various contracts were current, needed renegotiation, or were the 64 
result of an RFP process; the high relative operational expenses of Grand Haven CDD compared 65 
to other CDDs in the state; and the need for a detailed one-pager for the capital reserve study to 66 
provide clarity on when specific activities needed to be done and accounted for in each year’s 67 
budget. Mr. Covell emphasized the need for a strong system of procedures for tracking contracts 68 
and managing agreement documents, with comments made in favor of the creation of a specific 69 
database for this purpose. The Board expressed appreciation for the presentation and spoke in favor 70 
of improving contract tracking as well as having the group provide a list of facts needing recovery 71 
from historical data files, and Mr. Covell stated that he would schedule the next Fact Finding Group 72 
meeting. 73 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Exhibit 1: Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) 74 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Staff Reports 75 

A. District Engineer: David Sowell 76 

B. Exhibit 2: Amenity Manager: John Lucansky 77 

Mr. Lucansky noted a request from some members of the pickleball community for a squeegee to 78 
clean their courts. 79 

C. Operations Manager: Barry Kloptosky 80 

1. Exhibit 3: Presentation of Capital Project Plan Tracker 81 

The Board discussed the end-of-year status on a number of capital projects on the tracker 82 
with Mr. Kloptosky, with comments being made regarding the scope of road resurfacing 83 
projects and aspects to consider for a potential RFP process. 84 

2. Exhibit 4: Monthly Report 85 

3. Exhibit 5: Project Status Report 86 

D. Exhibit 6: District Counsel: Scott Clark 87 

Mr. Clark provided an update on the Escalante agreement, noting that this matter was still ongoing 88 
as some concerns had been expressed by Mr. McDonald and the attorney regarding the most recent 89 



Grand Haven CDD December 4, 2025 
Regular Meeting Page 3 of 5 
 

form of agreement that he had presented to them. Dr. Merrill suggested that Counsel reach back 90 
out to Escalante’s counsel at the start of 2026 following the holiday season, with the intent for 91 
increased progress and getting the agreement done. 92 

Mr. Clark additionally presented some draft amendments to Chapter 6 of the Grand Haven CDD 93 
rules, pertaining to the CDD’s stormwater rule. Mr. Clark noted that no Board decision could be 94 
made at this meeting to adopt the amendments as they would still need to go through the rulemaking 95 
public hearing process first. 96 

Mr. Chism made a motion, seconded by Mr. Foley, to approve the publication of the notice of the 97 
rule development public hearing for the Grand Haven Community Development District. 98 

During discussion of the motion, additional Board comments were made noting that there may be 99 
other needed edits to the CDD’s stormwater rule beyond the fishing matter that the amendment was 100 
focused on, including issues with trash and debris clogging street storm drains. Mr. Clark stated 101 
that he could add some language for the next draft with the Board’s direction, and that this update 102 
would be made available to the Board for review prior to the rule hearing. 103 

On a MOTION by Mr. Chism, SECONDED by Mr. Foley, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved 104 
the publication of the notice of the rule development and of the rulemaking public hearing, for the Grand 105 
Haven Community Development District. 106 

Following the motion, Mr. McInnes noted that the requirement for first publication was now 35 107 
days before the hearing. Mr. McInnes added that there was no workshop meeting scheduled for 108 
January where the Board would be able to review the rule draft, so he would directly circulate any 109 
newer drafts of the rule to the Board prior to the public hearing. 110 

E. District Manager: David McInnes 111 

1. Exhibit 7: Meeting Matrix 112 

2. Exhibit 8: Action Item Report 113 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Consent Agenda Items 114 

A. Exhibit 9: Consideration for Approval – The October 2025 Unaudited Financial Report 115 

B. Exhibit 10: Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of Supervisors Regular 116 
Meeting Held November 6, 2025 117 

On a MOTION by Mr. Brazen, SECONDED by Ms. Crouch, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved 118 
all items of the Consent Agenda, for the Grand Haven Community Development District. 119 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Business Items 120 

Mr. King presented three different cost rationale options for the Board’s consideration, and the 121 
Board expressed agreement with the recommendation for maintaining the status quo for current 122 
staffing levels, with the addition of a revenue share. 123 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Discussion Topics 124 

A. 10-Yr. Plan Updates – District Manager 125 

The Board and Mr. McInnes discussed adjustments to the budgets as part of the 10-year plan, 126 
including the categorization of various capital expenditure items into operations & maintenance, as 127 
well as adjusting the long-term projections for community and amenity maintenance to account for 128 
both new expenses and lower predicted inflation rates. Discussion ensued regarding the accuracy 129 
of the newly adjusted inflation rate and impacts on yearly assessments.        130 



Grand Haven CDD December 4, 2025 
Regular Meeting Page 4 of 5 
 

(The Board recessed the meeting at 11:02 a.m. and reconvened at 11:16 a.m.) 131 

B. District Management Structure – Dr. Merrill 132 

Dr. Merrill commented that the CDD management structure may need a revamp, noting that Grand 133 
Haven was in a maturity phase that had less of a need for major construction and was more focused 134 
on maintenance and protection of assets. Mr. Chism noted that the budget Fact Finding Group had 135 
also spent some time looking into changes to the organizational structure that could help with more 136 
easily providing detailed information on the budget and controlling expenses. Additional 137 
suggestions were made for researching management structures at other Districts and consulting 138 
experts for guidance. The Board agreed to bring back additional information to help inform 139 
suggestions on management team structuring. 140 

C. Pending Supervisor Led Projects 141 

Dr. Merrill noted that the next meeting for the Fact Finding Group on employee benefits was 142 
scheduled for January 2026. 143 

Ms. Crouch noted that the next meeting for the Fact Finding Group on communications was 144 
scheduled for the second week of December. 145 

Mr. Foley noted some potential difficulties with a 2/3 voting requirement among property owners 146 
for changes in the Homeowners Association bylaws related to a proposed revenue enhancement 147 
concept. Mr. Foley suggested that they could do their own survey of residents for additional input. 148 
Mr. Foley also observed a level of distrust and transparency concerns among some residents 149 
regarding the tree program. Ms. Leister noted a schedule of private meetings each week specifically 150 
with the directly affected residents that were by the 14 trees in the pilot removal/replacement 151 
program, and explained that meetings would be opened up to the rest of the community once the 152 
results of the pilot program were understood. 153 

Mr. Brazen requested the Operations Supervisor’s assistance in putting together a PowerPoint 154 
relative to the road issue on Wild Oaks, and also expressed concerns about newer plans and cost 155 
estimates for the dog park, asking whether any separate site would be more viable. Dr. Merrill noted 156 
that the District Horticulturist had highlighted an area near the main entrance to Grand Haven, and 157 
Mr. Brazen asked for a rough estimate to be provided at a future meeting for comparison and further 158 
discussion. Additional comments were made highlighting billing hours for the District Engineer 159 
working on the dog park, and previously pending directives for a design to be drawn up. 160 

On a MOTION by Mr. Foley, SECONDED by Mr. Chism, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board approved 161 
directing the District Engineer to halt any further work on the dog park project, for the Grand Haven 162 
Community Development District. 163 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Supervisors’ Requests 164 

There being none, the next item followed. 165 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Action Items Summary 166 

The action items were as follows: 167 

• The Operations Manager will discuss logistics and projected costs for street sweeping with District 168 
Counsel, including comparisons between potentially acquiring a leaf vacuum truck and hiring a 169 
vendor’s services. 170 

• The Operations Manager will work with the District Engineer on acquiring proposals for the paving 171 
and curbing project for Fiscal Year 2026. 172 



Grand Haven CDD December 4, 2025 
Regular Meeting Page 5 of 5 
 

• Supervisor Chism will work with the Fact Finding Group to develop an list of facts and actions 173 
needing recovery. 174 

• The Operations Supervisor will work on the contract updates as brought up by the Fact Finding 175 
Group. 176 

• The District Manager and District Counsel will work on publishing the notice of rule development 177 
and the rulemaking public hearing for the CDD’s stormwater rules. 178 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Meeting Matrix Summary 179 

The following items were added as upcoming topics for discussion on the meeting matrix summary: 180 

• The January 2026 meeting will include a continued discussion regarding the District management 181 
structure. 182 

THIRTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Next Meeting Quorum Check: January 15th at 9:00 AM 183 

All Board members present indicated that they planned on attending the next meeting in person, 184 
which would constitute a quorum. 185 

FOURTEENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Adjournment 186 

On a MOTION by Ms. Crouch, SECONDED by Mr. Chism, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board, at 1:51 187 
p.m., adjourned the meeting for the Grand Haven Community Development District. 188 

*Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered 189 
at the meeting is advised that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 190 
including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 191 

Meeting minutes were approved at a meeting by vote of the Board of Supervisors at a publicly noticed 192 
meeting held on February 19, 2026. 193 

 194 

 195 

 196 

 197 

Signature  Signature 

 

 

Printed Name  Printed Name 

Title: □ Secretary □ Assistant Secretary  Title: □ Chairman □ Vice Chairman 198 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 14 



CUSTOMER QUANTITY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

Grand Haven
17 Osprey Circle

90' long by approximately 6' high, weedmat, shaping 

bank and any sod repair
$14,500.00

DATE

1/6/2026
19 Osprey Circle

90' long by approximately 6' high, weedmat, shaping 

bank and any sod repair
$14,500.00

ADDRESS

17 Osprey Circle and 19 

Osprey Circle

CITY/STATE/ZIP
Any sod repairs will be an additional $400.00 per 400 

square foot pallet.

Palm Coast Fl

SALESPERSON

Tracy Larson

PROJECT

Coquina Walls on Lake Bank

SUBTOTAL $29,000.00 

TAX RATE 

SALES TAX 

OTHER 

TOTAL  $29,000.00

DATE

CONSTRUCTION PROPOSAL
Tracy Larson ‐ 386‐237‐7467 / jlarson76@att.net

50% down ( $14,500.00 ) and balance due of $14,500.00 upon completion.

SIGN BELOW TO ACCEPT QUOTE:

AUTHORIZED REP

THIS PROPOSAL INCLUDES THE CONDITIONS NOTED:


	1. Cover Page - Regular Meeting
	2. Agenda Pg. 1
	2. Agenda Pg. 2
	3. EXHIBIT 01
	4. EXHIBIT 01 - Notice of PH & January 15 Meeting
	4. Notice of Rule Development - Run 12-11-25
	5. Notice of Rulemaking & January 15 Meeting - Run 12-15-25


	5. EXHIBIT 02
	6. EXHIBIT 02 - PH - Storm Water Rules
	GHCDD Rules Policies and Fees for All Amenity Facilities  (Fishing transferred)
	Stormwater rule (Dec 25 revision)


	7. EXHIBIT 03
	8. EXHIBIT 03 - PH - Res. 2026-02 - Amending Chapter VI Surface Water Systems

	9. EXHIBIT 04
	10. EXHIBIT 04 - Staff Reports - Amenity Manager Report

	11. EXHIBIT 05
	12. EXHIBIT 05 - Staff Reports - FY 2026 Capital Project Plan Tracker - 1.7.26

	13. EXHIBIT 06
	14. EXHIBIT 06 - Staff Reports - Operations Manager's Report

	15. EXHIBIT 07
	16. EXHIBIT 07 - Staff Reports - Project Status Report rev. 01.07.26

	17. EXHIBIT 08
	18. EXHIBIT 08 - Staff Reports - DC Report

	19. EXHIBIT 09
	20. EXHIBIT 09 - Staff Reports - Meeting Matrix

	21. EXHIBIT 10
	22. EXHIBIT 10 - Staff Reports - DM Action Item Status for Board-Updated 01-06-2026

	2. Agenda Pg. 3
	23. EXHIBIT 11
	24. EXHIBIT 11 - Consent Agenda - September Financials
	Cover
	BS
	GF
	CRF


	25. EXHIBIT 12
	26. EXHIBIT 12 - Consent Agenda - November Financials
	Cover
	BS
	GF
	CRF


	27. EXHIBIT 13
	28. EXHIBIT 13 - Consent Agenda - December Mins.

	29. EXHIBIT 14
	30. EXHIBIT 14 - Business Items - Joshua's Tree Landscaping, Inc. Proposal


	rta: 


